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ABSTRACT

A HISTORY OF THE STRAND THEATRE
LANSING, MICHIGAN
MARCH 1920--MARCH 1922
By
Betty Kopit

This thesis is a history of the Strand Theatre, in the
Strand-Arcade Building, in Lansing, Michigan, during the
period of its construction, which began in 1920, through the
first year of its operation, in 1922. The theatre was a
vaudeville house. Two, and sometimes three shows a day
were presented, in the typical vaudeville manner, with
singers, comedians, dancers, jugglers, and animal acts
performing to an audience that at one time came back night
after night to see the shows.

The Strand Theatre was built for mass entertainment,
and it was built on a grand scale. Everything about the
theatre invited the patron to a splendid, exciting evening,
even before the curtain went up. The theatre's lavish
ornamentation and design provided the vaudeville patrons
with greater comforts than they might have expected,so that
the physical structure became a part of the entertainment.

By the end of the Strand Theatre's first year of

vaudeville, this type of entertainment had been superseded
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by the public's interest in the newly emerging film
industry, and the theatre started showing films.

* * *

Research on this theatre involved investigating the
previous theatrical activity in Lansing, and then compiling
information on the early days at the Strand. The commercizal
aspects of the building were studied, as well as the
physical structure itself.

The first appendix to this thesis includes the
Articles of Incorporation and the Annual Reports of 1921
of the two corporations involved in the operation of the
theatre and the arcade. The second is a group of photos
that delineate the weekly progress of the construction of
the building. A compilation of the vaudeville acts that
appeared at the Strand in its first year is the third
appendix, followed by an interview with a former stagehand

at the Strand, James laher.
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PLATE II

Plague in the outer lobby of the Theatre.
Notice that the date at the bottom is incorrect.

The actual date of the opening was April 21, 1921.
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In the early twentieth ceatury, theatres in the
Midwest were usually constructed near or above, civic/
commercial spaces. Therefore, the theatre was not seen
by the owner/entrepreneur as a separate space, but as a
contributing part of a rental structure. Theatres in the
Michigan cities of Vassar, Belding, Portland, and Grand
Rapids were combined with commercial spaces, while the
theatres of Calumet and Cheboygan shared space with civic
offices (the City Hall and Fire Department).

The Strand Theatre, at 215 South Washington Avenue,
in the Strand-—-Arcade Building, in Lansing, is an exanple
of the former arrangement. Wwalter S. Butterfield, a
Fichigan theatre entrepreneur, built the elaborate
structure in 1920 as a commercial space. The arcade
included fourteen stores, an enormous multi-use space
above the arcade, and a 1600-seat theatre.

This thesis traces the origins of the Strand Theatre
from March, 1920 to March, 1922, after the theatre's first
year of operation. Soon after it opened, movies superseded
vaudeville as an entertainment priority for the public, and
the theatre responded by showing photoplays exclusively.1
This study has been undertaken with several limitations.

The present owners of the theatre were unable to persuade

1. The basic form of the photoplay was a one-reel,
fourteen-minute melodrama. This form was expanded, and
eventually evolved into the silent movie, encompassing
melodrama, comedy, westerns, and dramatized "real-life
situations."”
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Mr. Wardwell, the current manager, to share all his

"2 that would

information with me, including a "daybook,
have become a primary source. But Mr. Wardwell did permit
me to photograph some of the weekly, dated construction
photos that he had found in the theatre. They are
included in an appendix. Furthermore, the State Journal,
Lansing's local newspaper, is frequently inaccurate, in
terms of its own research and dating procedures. My
search for memorabilia from the theatre yielded nothing.
An ad placed in the State Journal seeking such artifacts
as tickets, posters and programs received no response.
Finally, the research was limited by the fact that most

of the business information had been destroyed. For

example, specific tax information was una.vailable.3

* x ¥
Despite these limitations, my research on the Strand

Theatre has been extremely interesting. This thesis will

hopefully document the local history of this period.

2. A %daybook® is a book that lists the vaudeville
acts that appeared at the theatre on a show-by=-show basis.
3. Tax records were researched in an effort to detect
the motivations for building the Strand Theatre in its
elaborate style at that time. The information revealed an
interesting interlock of corporations and directors typical
of American business practice, but was otherwise fruitless.
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A BRIZF SURVEY
OF
THEATRE IN LANSING
BEFORE 1920
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In order to put the Strand Theatre in perspective, it
is necessary to look back at Lansing's theatrical history,
specifically the theatre structures that existed before
the Strand was built. Lansing became the state capitol in
1847. A year later a hotel called Benton House was opened.
It stood at the northwest corner of South Washington Avenue
and Main Street. The proprietors presented "dramatic
entertainments"™ in the ballroom of the hotel for twenty-
five cents, and a "wandering" group of actors called the
Olympic Players appeared there year after year.1

In 1862 a very modest entertainment hall was opened
over two stores at 109-111 South Washington Avenue., It was
called Capitol Hall and was built by Judge William H. Chapman,
This hall accommodated traveling shows during the Civil

War,2

but went out of business when it was superseded by
Mead's Hall.®

The lMead Block, as it was known, was built during the
"boom days" that followed the Civil War, and it was
Lansing's first legitimate theatre. It opened in 1866, and

was located at the southeast corner of Washington and

1. 6Centennial Issue, The State Journal, April 28, 1955,
Po M"1 .
2. George N. Fuller, ed. Michigan: A Centennial
History of the State and its People, II. (Chicago: The
ewis Publishing Company, 1939), Pe 558
3. "Renewal to Wipe Out Last of '0Old Rialto,'™ The
State Journal, June 10, 1967, p. B-T.
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Ottawa Avenues., The lead Block, a three story structure
with an arched roof, was built by James I. Fead in the
manner that was fairly typical for that time. Like
Capitol Hall, the first floor of the building contained
retail businesses while the theatre occupied the upper
space. This theatre was also used as a meeting hall, and
in fact, its name was eventually changed to "lkead's
Temperance Hall," reflecting both the temperance fervor at
the time and lMr. liead's interest in the movement. Later,
in an effort to revive its theatrical use, the name was
changed again to the Star Theatre, and many improvements
were made on the building. As the Star Theatre, it showed
silent and sound movies for several decades.4

In 1873, Buck's Opera House opened at 233 North
vWashington Avenue. It was built by one of Lansing's
pioneers, Daniel W. Buck, and was promoted by Daniel .
and Benjamin ¥. Buck, I'e M. Cowles, and W. S. Elliott.
Everything at this theatre was on a grand scale. It had
1100 seats, gilded pillars on either side of the stage, and
a mansard roof. On opening night, lay 3, 1873, Edwin Booth,
the brother of John Wilkes Booth, appeared in the leading
role in Macbeth, and in 1889, the “Battle of Gettysburg"

was presented, ", o . from first shot to last.“5
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In 1390, Daniel Buck sold the theatre to James J. Baird,
who promptly renamed it Baird's Opera House. In 1910, this
site became the Gladmer Theatre.6

In 1900, the Colonial Theatre opened. It was located
at 122 East Michigan Avenue. Stock companies appeared
there as well as photoplays. Five years later,

Dwight Robson opened the Bijou Theatre on mast Ottawa
Street. Al Jolson appeared in 1905 at the Bijou, and was
paid $35 a week. Ben Turpin also appeared on that stage,
in a surprise appearance as an acrobat. The Bijou was
later renamed the Regent Theatre, after it moved to the
lot where the Olds Plaza Hotel now stands.’

Another vaudeville house opened in 1907, but for a
very short time. This was the Idlehour Theatre. It was
located at 119 South Washington Avenue.8

Three years later, in 1910, the Gladmer Theatre
opened its doors. Its opening night program featured
Pavlova with the Russian Imperial Ballet.9

In 1911 Charles H. Davis changed the name of the
Colonial Theatre to the Lansing Theatre. lir. Davis set a
record during the time that he operated the theatre by the

6. "Renewal. « «," The State Jourmal, June 10, 1967,
Pe B=Te

T Ibid.

8« "ilickering Flame knded Theater's Illusion," The
State Journal, April 28, 1955, pe. =17,

9. "Renmewale. o »," The State Journal, June 10, 1967,
po B-7o
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fact that in three years, tne house was "“dark" only

seventeen nights! The name of the theatre changed again

later to become The Esquire.10

* ¥ ¥

In the late nineteenth century, theatres enjoyed
enormous popularity among people whose lives now included
ever-increasing amounts of leisure time., The burlesques
and melodramas of the 1880's and 1890's were a great
attraction despite the prevalence of strong religious
forces that frowned, to say the least, on commercial
theatrical activity. Traveling companies of widely
disparate acts toured the country, and as vaudeville
spread beyond the big cities, the theatres became organized
into chains, where booking organizations sent the acts
out "on the circuit," that is, to a prescribed group of
theatres in a particular geographnical area.11

These acts included acrobats, trained animals, dancers,
musicians, fancy roller=-siatvers, singers of comic songs
and sentimental ballads, jugglers, magicians, minstrels

as well as others far too various to mention here.12

10, "IFlickering rlames. « «," The State Journal,
April 28, 1955, p. Li=17.

11. TFoster Rhea Dulles. 4america Learns to Play
(lew York: D. Appleton=CentuTy Company, 1940), Pe 219
12. Yor further details on the types of acts that
appeared on the vaudeville circuit in Lansing, refer to
Appendix C, which lists the acts and photoplays that

appeared bi-weekly at the Strand Theatre.
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One-act comedies, farces, minstrel shows, and melodramas
comprised the other elements of the entertainment of the
late nineteenth and early twentieth century that vied for
the attentions of the american populace. The theatre
patrons of the working class responded enthusiastically,
filling the theatres for ecvery show, thereby sparking the
innovation of the theatre that ran continuous performances,
which was introduced by B. e Keith at a theatre in Boston
in 1883+ Iir. Keith and F. Fe. Proctor combined forces to
further the expansion of vaudeville by grouping together
even greater numbers of theatres into circuits. Their
business established a circuit tnat eventually controlled
400 theatres.!”

The vaudeville acts wecre booked individually through
2 nation-wide system that was run in different geographical
areas. The practice was for each act to play at one
theatre at the veginning of a week, and to move on to
another theatre in another town for the rest of the week,
with the possibility of staying longer at a particular
theatre if they became popular. Those acts that became
overwhelmingly popular played only the larger cities, and
commanded large sums of money for their appearances.

The men who ran the booking organizations and owned

the theatres (B. F. Keith, F. F. Proctor, Claude Cady,

13- Ibido, Dulles, Pe 2190
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W. S. Butterfield, amons otners), made vaudeville big
business. But this business changed with the whimsical
nature of the American people's interests. A4t the turn of
the century, vaudeville %, . « had become the principal
commercial amusement of this country's urban populace,"14
but for a variety of reasons, to be discussed later,
vaudeville eventually was superseded oy the nickleodeon,
the photoplay and finally, the movie.

Silent moving pictures fascinated the American public,
and when it became clear tuat this interest was equalling
and overtaking the vaudeville audience, theatre owners
quickly and decisively remodeled their theatres to
accommodate this less costly, more lucrative entertainment.

lowever, theatre patrons were beginning to grow
scarce anyway, for the vaudeville show at the local Opera
Hlouse no longer played a predominant role in the American
people's leisure priorities. High school curricula were
being expanded during the first two decades of the
twentieth century, as were extra=-curricular sports, which
caused people to spend their evenings at the high school
gym watching a home basketball game rather than a

vaudeville showe.

14. Ibid., p. 219.
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Other factors that decreased the vaudeville audience
were the interest in the Chatauqua moveuwent; the ubiguitous
automobile, wiiich gave people greater mobility; and the
radio.15

Aside from vaudeville, other forms of theatrical
activity were flourishing at this time. Serious drama and
musical comedies enjoyed lengthened runs that grew into
full seasons at big-city houses. When the play drew lesser
attention in the city, it was put "on the road" to tour

)
the provinces, '°

and wihile these shows did well monetarily,
they were a less attractive business proposition than the
movies because the road companies had high transportation

17

costs and high salaries for the actors. The vaudeville
theatres, or Opera llouses, were tiherefore transiormed
rather simply into movie houses.

In Lansing, the trend ‘toward more movie houses was
equally apparent. In 1914, Claude &, Cady, who owned
other theatres, opened the Vaudette lIovie Theatre. Ie

later bought the Colonial Theatre and remodeled it into a

movie house. In 1918 and 1919, Cady brought musical

15. Willis Irederick Dunbar, "The Opera liouse as a
Social Institution in hichigen," Michigen History, XXVI,
661"’673 [ ]

16. Willis Frederick Dunbar, Michigan: A History of
the Wolverine State (Grand Kapids: werduwans Publishing
Company, 1965), p. 729.

17 "Lansing and its Yesterdays," State Journal,
January 1, 1930, 3By 1930, lLansing saw less road shows in
a season than it had seen in a fortnignt a decade earlier.
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comedies into his theatres, because they were very popular
at that time. In 1921, Cady bought the Empress Theatre,
that had been operated by Joseph M. Neal, and changed the
name to the Capitol Theatre.18
Walter S. Butterfield was another theatre entrepreneur
in Michigan. He owned many theatres and decided to build
a new theatre structure in Lansing in 1921, which was to be
the Strand-Arcade Building. During the 1920's, Butterfield,
along with Herbert Fowser, Benjamin Vollmer, Claude Cady
and Joseph Neal,19 established himself in lMichigan with a
chain of theatres that grew to be one of the largest
organizations in the country.20
Butterfield had earlier been the manager of the Blaney
Attractions, Rose Stahl's "Chorus Lady" company, and the
original "Buster Brown" musical comedy organization. But in
1904, he leased the second floor of the Hamlin Opera House
in Battle Creek, Michigan, and hired three acts to perform,
thereby establishing a vaudeville policy at that theatre.
The venture was only moderately successful, but Butterfield
went on to add the Bijou theatres in Kalamazoo and Jackson
to his enterprise. The latter theatres were small store

rooms that were converted into variety houses.21

18, Ibid., State Jourmnal, April 28, 1955, p. M-17.
19. bid., Fuller, p. 559.

200 b.do’ §§at§ goygal’ Apl‘il 28, 1955’ pa M—17o
21. b do, P. M-17o
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By the time Butterfield built the Strand Theatre in
1921, he owned twenty theatres in nine Michigan cities.22
In 1923 he bought all of Claude Cady's theatres including
the Gladmer, Capitol and Colonial theatres in Lansing, as
well as the Cady houses in Jackson and Battle Creek. In
1927 he opened the State Theatre in East Lansing, and in
1939 he remodeled the Gladmer Theatre, razing the entire
structure except the stage, and rebuilding it. Butterfield
died in 1939, but in 1941, the Strand Theatre was remodeled,
and the Butterfield chain of theatres continued to expand.
By 1955, the chain owned more than one hundred theatres in
Michigan.23

Butterfield wanted to build a jewel of a vaudeville
theatre in the 1920's. He contracted a world-renowned
theatre architect, John Eberson, to design the space.
That theatre became part of the Strand—-Arcade structure
in Lansing.

The following chapter discusses the details of the

congtruction of the building.

22, Arthur Frudenfeld, An Achievement (Battle Creek:
Ellis Publishing Company, 19215, Pe. 17. The theatres that
Butterfield owned by 1921 were: Ann Arbor; Majestic,
Arcade, Bay City; Orpheum, Battle Creek; Bijou, Flint;
Palace, Regent, Garden, Majestic, Royal, Jackson; Orpheum,
Kalamazoo; Regent, Majestic, Lansing; Strand-Arcade, Bijou
(Regen%’, Port H n; Majestic, Family, Saginaw; Jeffers-
Strand, Franklin, Regent, Auditorium.

23, Ibid., State Jourmal, April 28, 1955, p. M-18.
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PLATE III

The Strand-Arcade Building

from South Washington Avenue
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The site Butterfield chose for the Strand-Arcade
Building was at 215 South Washington Avenue. Between 1847
and 1852, one of Lansing's earliest pioneers, Christopher
Columbus Darling, built a three—=story frame hotel on the

site called The Columbus House.1

It later became known
as the American House, then the kagle Hotel, in 1863.2
It was later either rebuilt or renamed Hudson House by
Martin Hudson between 1861 and 1865, and rebuilt in 1870.°
The Hudson House burned to the ground on December 18, 1919,
after its purchase by Butterfield for the Strand-—-Arcade
Building.t

Butterfield's plan was to build a commercial building
with spaces for retail establishments in the Arcade, bowling
alleys, and a billiard room in the basement, an elaborately
decorated vaudeville theatre, and a combination banquet-

ballroom=convention hall on the second floor. He hired

John Eberson to design the building.

1. "Early Days at Strand Recollected,® The State
Journal, March 21, 1971.

2. "Fire Helped to Clear Site," State Journal,

March 21, 1971.

3« Ibid. W. H. Porter, a pioneer Lansing businessman,
conjectured that Hudson House was built by Martin Hudson
between 1861 and 1865 and rebuilt in 1870, but the State
Journal, in an article in the paper on June 10, 1967,
reported that the Columbia House, built in 1852, was

later renamed the Hudson House.,
4. d., State Journal, March 21, 1971.
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Eberson was well-known as a theatre architect. For
the Strand Theatre, he designed a space that included a
huge lobby, a large orchestra pit, and lavish smoking and
retiring rooms in the mezzanine. He used ornate sculptures,
imported chandeliers, and intricately molded plaster work
to achieve a consistently plush interior.

The space was designed, however, as a unique real
estate combination that would provide Butterfield with a
full-time rental-real-estate investment in the Arcade, as
well as the theatre.

When the ground was broken for the Strand-Arcade on
March 16, 1920, Eberson estimated that the cost of the
building would be $500,000. The grand opening was scheduled
for March 27, 1921,5 and Eberson spoke of the
architecture as being "predominantly Gallic."6

The Strand Theatre and the Arcade were built with
material furnished as much as possible by local Lansing
firms, and by the labor of local men. The construction
", o . provided work for a small army of men for more

than one year.'7

5. Though the grand opening of the Strand-—-Arcade was
scheduled for March 27, 1921, there were construction
delays which forced the opening beyond the projected date.
It opened on April 21, 1921, but the lobby plaque had
already been cast with the incorrect projected date. It
was never changed.

6. Ibid., State Journal, March 21, 1971.

T lbid., An Achievement, p. 4l.
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The following firms provided the construction
materials: The R. C. Smith Company of Battle Creek
provided 194 tons of structural steel. They erected steel
roof trusses tested to many times the actual strength
needed,s The steel truss that supported the balcony in the
theatre had a span of sixty-four feet and weighed more than
fifteen tons. The proscenium arch girder was forty-six feet
long, four feet wide, five feet high, and weighed in excess
of twelve tons. Nine steel girders supported the roof of
the enormous convention hall-ballroom-banquet space.8 The
Goldsmith Metal Lath Company of Cincinnati, Ohio provided
slab construction for all the fireproof, reinforced floors,
and the roof., They used the Shurebond Unit System of
Metal Tile for this work. E The MacDougal Brothers
Company of Lansing furnished the "“built up compound asphalt
fireproof Ru=Ber-0id%" roofing material for the theatre.
Another Lansing firm, Heller Brothers, provided the sand
and gravel for the building.1o

The firm of Young Brothers and Daley, from Lansing,
provided three thousand barrels of cement, three cars of
plaster, three cars of hydrated lime, thirty thousand feet

of gypsum block and twenty tons of art stucco.11

80 Ibido, po 42"48.
9. Tbid., p. 45.
10. Tbid.., p. 36.
11. Ibid., p. 40.
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The Architectural Decorating Company from Chicago
provided the ornamental and plain plasterers for the
building, and another Chicago firm, the Major Equipment
Company, Incorporated, supplied the "major pre-selective
lighting systems and apparatus" for the theatre.12

The Briggs Company supplied the brick and terra cotta
for the exterior of the building, the steel, reinforced
concrete for the floors, tile walls for the interior, and
a large variety of other permanent materials. The
Clippert=Spaulding Company also provided common bricks
that were used in the construction.13

The heating and ventilation systems for the building
were supplied by several firms. The ILG Electric
Ventilating Company provided the fans and blowers for the
ventilation system. The firm of R. R. Brenner and Son,
provided heating, ventilation and plumbing equipment, and
the B. F. Reynolds Company of Chicago supplied Reynolds
Unit Heat Generating Equipment, eliminating the need for
boilers, steam coils, or radiators in the structure.14

The brass railings for the theatre and the arcade were
supplied by the Newman Manufacturing Company of Cincinnati,
Ohio. The American Rug and Carpet Company of Chicago

furnished all the rugs and carpets used in the theatre.15

12. 1bid., p. 42, 50.
13. Ebid., P. 51, 55.
14. Ibid., p. 52, 30, 56.
15. lbid., p. 46, 44.
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The glass and lighting fixtures were supplied by two
firms. The T. W. Wilmarth Company of Chicago designed and
manufactured the lighting fixtures for the theatre and the
arcade, and the Eastwood Glass Company from Saginaw,
Michigan provided the plate and window glass, mirrors, wire
and ornamental glass, and the store-=front construction for
the building.1®

Safety was a paramount concern when the building was
constructed. Numerous exits on both the sides and the
front of the auditorium of the theatre were designed to
allow a capacity house to empty in less than three minutes.
The theatre was designed with thirteen double exits on the
main floor and six exits leading from the balcony.
Ventilation was also a major concern. "Washed air" was
pumped into the auditorium for a complete change of air
every six minutes.17

Both Butterfield and Eberson were committed to the
grand scale of this structure. The preceding list of the
construction materials indicates that they were also
interested in the more modern techniques of ventilation,

heating and safety, in order to make the Strand-—Arcade

Building as modern as possible.

* ¥ ¥

16. 1Ibid., p. 54, 55.
17. TIbid., p. 49, 52.
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PLATS IV

Original Box Office Outside the Arcade.
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The Strand-Arcade Building was designed as a combination
retail business=theatre-—-public space, but the outer facade
of the building invited one into a theatre._ From the side-
walk on South Washington Avenue, a twenty foot wide arcade
led into the building for a distance of sixty-five feet.
Fourteen shops were located on either side of the arcade.
The theatre was located at the rear right of the arcade.
Designed for convenience, there was a marble paved, roofed-
but=-open passageway that paralleled the theatre and led to
Grand Avenue behind the structure in an unobstructed manner.

The Washington Avenue frontage was occupied by three
shops and a marble stairway that was the entrance to the
basement of the structure. The basement contained bowling
alleys, a billiard room, a barber shop, a restaurant,
storage space for the shops on the main floor, and a room
called the Community Center Amusement and Service Place.
The basement ceiling was exceptionally high, adding to the
appearance of the businesses located there. A large
staircase near the theatre led to the second floor of the
arcade, where the combination convention=ballroom-banquet
hall was located.18

The arcade's multi-colored Spanish ceiling was thirty
feet high, and was executed in ornamental plaster that was
interspersed with amber sky lights, giving the arcade a
lively feeling. The veétibule of the arcade was entirely

18. Ibid., An Achjeyement, p. 19.
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FLATD V

First Floor View of the Arcade of Stores.

The Theatre is at the Rear of the Arcade.
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PLATE VI

Second Floor View of the Arcade

Looking Toward the Street Entrance
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constructed of polychrome terra cotta, and contained a box
office, check room, and the grand staircase. The
conveniently located box office was able to accommodate
large crowds. A marble gfand staircase led to the second
floor of the building. The shops on the main floor of the
arcade had electrically lighted display frames near the
entrance of each shop, and copper bay windows with marble
bases that faced the center of the arcade.19

The second floor of the arcade contained the space that
was available for use as either a banquet or convention
hall, or a ballroom. It was an enormous space that could
easlly have accommodated one thousand people. It had a
parquet dance floor, lavish appointments, as well as all
the necessary checking room, storage and kitchen facilities
that might be needed.20

The Arcade was certainly a beautiful structure, but
the jewel of the building was the theatre. One entered the
theatre at the end and to the right of the arcade, through
four sets of beveled plate glass doors. These doors led
into a two=story stone foyer of the theatre. All the
floors were marble and the cornices were beautifully
decorated with an egg—and-dart motif. A curved stairway

led to an open balcony under an intricately designed dome

that formed a rotunda. Classic fluted columns around the

19. Ibid., p. 19.
20. %b—id'.: p. 10.
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PLATE VII

Interior Foyer and Box Office of the Theatre
Inside the Arcade
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PLATE VIII

Foyer and Grand Staircase
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PLATH IX

Grand Staircase Leading ¥rom the

Foyer of the Theatre to the Mezzanine
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PLATE X

Foyer Domed Ceiling



41

5

N

&
.

}-‘c'\;nsma AREAOE

.

W

U

3




42

Upper Foyer and Dome Ceiling Detail
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balcony and iron railings finished the decor of this area.
A bronze and cut glass lamp that Mr. Butterfield imported
from Italy was near the center of the rotunda.21
The main floor of the theatre was equally impressive.
Designed to reflect the style of Louis XV, this area was
richly carpeted, and tapestries covered the walls. Three
sets of doors le<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>